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A T T A C H M E N T A 

C o u n t One 
(Conspiracy to C o m m i t Securit ies Fraud) 

Beginning i n or about May 2015 through in or about September 2017 , in 
the Dis t r ic t of New Je rsey and elsewhere, defendants 

P A R M J I T PARMAR, 
a / k / a " P a u l Parmar," 
S O T I R I O S ZAHARIS, 
a / k / a " S a m Zaharis" 

R A V I C H I V U K U L A 

knowingly and intentionally conspired and agreed w i th each other and others 
to commit an offense against the United States, namely, securit ies fraud, i n 
that they willfully and knowingly, directly and indirectly, by the use of means 
and instrumental i t ies of interstate commerce, and of the mai ls , and of facilities 
of nat ional securities exchanges, would and did use and employ, i n connection 
w i th the purchase and sale of securit ies, manipulative and deceptive devices 
and contrivances by: (a) employing devices, schemes and artifices to defraud; 
(b) mak ing untrue statements of mater ia l fact and omitting to state mater ia l 
facts necessary i n order to make the statements made, i n the light of the 
c i rcumstances under wh ich they were made, not misleading; and (c) engaging 
in acts, practices and courses of bus iness which operated and would operate 
as a f raud and deceit upon persons, a l l contrary to Title 15, United States 
Code, Sections 78j(b) and 78ff, and Title 17, Code of Federal Regulations, 
Section 240.10b-5. 

Overt Acts 

I n furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect i ts unlawfu l object, the 
following overt acts, among others, were committed i n the Distr ict of New 
Je rsey and elsewhere. The names of the entities referenced below are further 
defined i n Attachment B to th is Complaint. 

a. On or about J a n u a r y 29, 2016, the defendants caused 
approximately $43,673 to be transferred from Company A's bank account to 
the Operating Company's bank account and then recorded that transfer i n the 
Operating Company's general ledger as revenue from a purported third-party 
customer of Company A. 

b. On or about J u n e 27, 2016, the defendants gave a 
presentation to the Private Investment F i r m , and others, dur ing wh i ch they 
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made numerous material misrepresentations and omissions regarding 
Company A. 

c. On or about J u l y 29 , 2016, defendant PARMAR sent an 
emai l to representatives of the Private Investment F i r m , copying defendants 
ZAHARIS and CHIVUKULA , that attached a spreadsheet of f inancial 
information containing var ious mater ia l misrepresentations and omissions 
regarding Company A. 

d. On or about J u l y 29 , 2016, defendants PARMAR and 
ZAHARIS met wi th a representative of the Private Investment F i r m at an office 
in or around Hazlet, New Jersey , i n connection w i th the Go-Private 
Transact ion. 

I n violation of Tit le 18, United States Code, Section 3 7 1 . 
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C o u n t Two 
(Securities Fraud) 

From no later than in or about Apr i l 2016 through on or about J a n u a r y 
30 , 2017, i n the Distr ict of New Je r s ey and elsewhere, defendants 

P A R M J I T PARMAR, 
a / k / a " P a u l Parmar," 
S O T I R I O S Z A H A R I S , 
a / k / a " S a m Z a h a r i s " 

R A V I C H I V U K U L A 

by use of the means and instrumental i t ies of interstate commerce, the mai ls , 
and facilities of nat ional securit ies exchanges, directly and indirectly, 
knowingly and willfully used manipulat ive and deceptive devices and 
contrivances i n contravention of Title 17, Code of Federal Regulations, Section 
240.10b-5 in connection w i th the purchases and sales of securit ies, to wit, 
C l ass A Uni ts i ssued by a company affiliated w i th Company A, by (a) employing 
devices, schemes and artifices to defraud; (b) making untrue statements of 
mater ia l fact and omitting to state mater ia l facts necessary i n order to make 
the statements made, i n the light of the c i rcumstances under wh ich they were 
made, not misleading; and (c) engaging in acts, practices and courses of 
bus iness w h i c h operated and would operate as a f raud and deceit upon 
persons, namely, by engaging in deceptive and fraudulent acts upon 
purchasers of C lass A Uni ts of a company affiliated w i th Company A in 
connection w i th the Go Private Transact ion described below. 

I n violation of Title 15, United States Code, Sections 78j(b) and 78ff, Title 
17, Code of Federal Regulations, Section 240.10b-5, and Title 18, United States 
Code, Section 2. 
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A T T A C H M E N T B 

I , Mark Petruzzi, a Special Agent wi th the Federal B u r e a u of 
Investigation, having conducted a n investigation and discussed this matter 
with other law enforcement officers who have participated i n this investigation 
and other individuals wi th knowledge of the facts set forth below, have 
knowledge of the following facts. Because this Complaint i s being submitted 
for the l imited purpose of establ ishing probable cause, I have not included each 
and every fact known to me concerning th is investigation. Rather, I have set 
forth only the facts that I believe are necessary to establ ish probable cause. 
Unless specifically indicated, a l l conversations and statements described i n 
this affidavit are related i n substance and in part. 

B A C K G R O U N D 

1. At times relevant to this Complaint: 

a. "Company A" was a publicly-traded company that, through a 
web of operating subsidiar ies, provided outsourced revenue cycle management 
("RCM"), physic ian practice management, and other related services to 
hospital's and medical practices i n the United States. Company A was 
incorporated i n Delaware i n or around September 2014 for the purpose of 
becoming a holding company for the "Operating Company," which owned 
several subsidiary entities engaged in the businesses referenced above. I n or 
around December 2014, Company A's securit ies began trading on the 
Alternative Investment Market ("AIM") of the London Stock Exchange ( "LSE" ) . 
Company A was later taken private through a domestic merger transact ion 
consummated in the United States and described below, wh i ch closed on or 
about J a n u a r y 30, 2017. 

b. The "Private Investment F i r m " was a private investment 
management f irm based in New York City that sought to acquire, own a n d 
operate businesses by providing long-term capital solutions. 

c. Defendant P A R M J I T PARMAR, a / k / a "Pau l Parmar" 
("PARMAR"), was a resident of New Je r s ey and was the Chie f Executive Officer 
of Company A from its inception through in or about September 2017. 
PARMAR also was a member of Company A's board of directors. Unt i l i n or 
around J a n u a r y 2017, PARMAR, and var ious other entities he owned and 
controlled, owned the majority of Company A's shares . 

d. Defendant SOT IR IOS ZAHARIS , a / k / a " S a m Zahar is " 
("ZAHARIS"), was a resident of New Je r sey and was the Chie f F inanc ia l Officer 
of Company A. He also served on its board of directors. 
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e. Defendant RAVI C H I V U K U L A ( "CHIVUKULA") was a resident 
of New J e r s e y and served a s the Chief F inanc ia l Officer of the Operating 
Company. He also was a member of Company A's board of directors. 

T H E S C H E M E T O D E F R A U D 

2. Between i n or about May 2015 through in or about September 
2017 , the defendants orchestrated a n elaborate scheme to defraud the Private 
Investment F i r m and others out of hundreds of mil l ions of dollars in 
connection w i th the funding of a "going private" transact ion whereby Company 
A, wh ich w a s publicly traded on the L S E ' s AIM, was taken private through a 
series of t ransact ions that w i l l be referred to herein collectively as either the 
"Go-Private Transact ion" or the "Merger." As part of the f inancing of the Go-
Private Transact ion , the Private Investment F i r m put up approximately $82 
mil l ion i n equity and a consort ium of f inancial inst i tut ions (the "Lenders") 
provided another approximately $130 mil l ion i n debt. The scheme was 
accomplished through a variety of fraudulent methods designed to grossly 
inflate the va lue of Company A and tr ick the Private Investment F i r m and 
others into believing that Company A was worth substant ia l ly more than its 
actua l va lue. 

3. The scheme to present a material ly false picture of the f inancial 
health of Company A began with several secondary offerings on the AIM 
whereby the defendants sought to raise tens of mil l ions of dollars i n the public 
markets purportedly to fund Company A's acquisit ions of var ious operating 
subsidiar ies. I n reality, a number of those entities either did not exist or had 
only a fraction of the operating income attributed to them. The evidence 
developed to date indicates that the co-conspirators then funneled the proceeds 
of these secondary offerings through bank accounts they controlled and used 
the money for a variety of purposes that had nothing to do wi th acquir ing the 
purported acquisit ion targets. Rather, the money from one of the offerings w a s 
used to, among other things, make it appear as if the Operating Company h a d 
substant ia l customer revenue when, i n fact, the funds were simply transfers of 
the money that had been raised in the secondary offering. The defendants 
went to great lengths to make it appear that these funds were revenue, 
concocting phony customers and altering bank statements to make it appear 
as if the funds were coming from customers. I n fact, the purported revenues 
and, in m a n y cases, the customers, were complete fabrications. 

4. The co-conspirators employed a variety of fraudulent techniques 
before and i n the course of the Go-Private Transact ion to induce the Private 
Investment F i r m and others to fund the transact ion. These tactics included, 
but were not l imited to: (1) creating fictitious operating companies that 
Company A purportedly acquired in sham acquisit ions that the co-conspirators 
simply made up; (2) falsifying and, in some cases, wholly fabricating, bank 
records of subs id iary entities i n order to generate a phony picture of Company 
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A's revenue streams; (3) generating fake income streams and, in some cases, 
fabricating customers of Company A and its subsidiar ies; (4) and making other 
mater ia l misrepresentations and omissions to representatives of the Private 
Investment F i r m and others. Through these actions, the defendants caused 
the Private Investment F i r m and others to value Company A at over $300 
mil l ion for purposes of f inancing the Go-Private Transact ion. 

A. Background of the Go-Private T r a n s a c t i o n 

5. Between no later than in or around Apri l 2016 and November 
2016 , the Private Investment F i r m and Company A engaged in negotiations 
relating to the Go-Private Transact ion. The Go-Private Transact ion was 
s tructured so that a special purpose entity managed by the Private Investment 
F i r m would ult imately own a controlling interest in Company A and the 
balance would be owned by a PARMAR-controiled entity. 

6. Dur ing the negotiations of the Go-Private Transact ion and related 
due diligence activities by the Private Investment F i r m , PARMAR controlled 
Company A and was the key member of i ts senior management interfacing w i th 
the Private Investment F i r m . ZAHAR IS and C H I V U K U L A actively supported 
PARMAR in these efforts. 

7. I n or around J u n e 2016 , PARMAR, ZAHARIS and C H I V U K U L A 
made a presentation to the Private Investment F i r m dur ing wh ich they 
portrayed Company A as a growing force i n the medical bil l ing industry, touting 
the company's expansion of operations into over twenty states through its 
organic growth and numerous acquisit ions, including the following three 
separate purported medical bi l l ing and/or R C M businesses: M D R X Medical 
B i l l ing ("MDRX"); Phoenix Health, L L C ("Phoenix"); and Northstar F i r s t Health, 
L L C ("Northstar"). 

8. Pointing to organic growth and Company A's acquisit ions, PARMAR 
represented to the Private Investment F i r m that Company A's E B I D T A 1 and 
revenue were growing rapidly and exceeded expectations i n the fifteen months 
following its l ist ing on the AIM. 

9. Additionally, dur ing the negotiations, the defendants provided 
extensive documents to the Private Investment F i r m regarding Company A's 
purported f inancial condition, performance and business operations. These 
documents included Company A's public filings on the AIM, presentations that 
the defendants made to the Private Investment F i r m , f inancial statements for 
certain of Company A's subsid iary companies, information about numerous 

1 "EBIDTA" refers to a company's earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and 
amortization and is a measure commonly used to evaluate a company's financial 
performance in a given period of time. 
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purported customers of Company A and its subsidiaries, bank records, and 
customer contracts. The defendants represented to the Private Investment 
F i r m that the information in these materials was true and accurate, and the 
Private Investment F i r m relied on these representations i n deciding to pursue 
the Go-Private Transact ion. As explained further below, however, many of 
these documents contained material misrepresentations or omissions, or were 
completely fabricated by the defendants, i n furtherance of the scheme. 

10. Based upon the information provided by the defendants, the 
Private Investment F i r m valued Company A at more than $300 mill ion. 

11 . i n furtherance of the Go-Private Transact ion, Company A, through 
PARMAR, made specific representations and warrant ies i n the merger 
agreement and subscript ion agreement (the "Merger Documents") that the 
Private Investment F i r m ultimately signed. Specifically, Company A 
represented i n the merger agreement that i ts financial statements were truthful 
and accurate , that there were no false entries i n Company A's accounting 
records, that Company A's accounts receivable were the resul t of legitimate 
transact ions, and that its mater ia l contracts were rea l and enforceable. 
Notably, PARMAR and certain of h is controlled entities also agreed in the 
subscr ipt ion agreement to indemnify the Private Investment F i r m for "any 
intentional misrepresentations and fraud on the part of [Company A] or any 
seller." 

12. I n reliance of the defendants' mater ia l misrepresentations and 
omissions, on or about November 24, 2016, the Private Investment F i r m signed 
the Merger Documents to consummate the Go-Private Transact ion. P u r s u a n t 
to the terms of the Merger Documents, the Private Investment F i r m agreed to 
pay approximately $88 mill ion i n ca sh for a 50 .7% economic interest i n 
Company A after i ts conversion to a private entity following the transact ion. As 
set forth i n the subscript ion agreement, the Private Investment F i r m received 
approximately 30,268,763 C lass A Un i t s of the newly formed entity. 
Additionally, the Lenders agreed to lend up to approximately $145 mil l ion to 
finance the Merger. Company A i ssued unsecured promissory notes to its 
shareholders to generate the remaining approximately $40 mill ion. PARMAR, 
as Company A 's largest shareholder, received the majority of the proceeds from 
the Go-Private transact ion, and a n approximately 4 9 . 3 % economic interest in 
the new private company. The Go-Private Transact ion closed on or about 
J a n u a r y 30, 2017, w i th the Private Investment F i r m contributing 
approximately $82.5 mil l ion i n equity and the Lenders providing approximately 
$130 mil l ion i n debt financing. 

13. As set forth below, the investigation to date h a s revealed several 
categories of f raudulent conduct by the defendants i n connection w i th the Go-
Private Transact ion. 
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B. F a k e Operating Companies a n d S h a m Acquisitions 

14. Between in or around May 2015 and February 2016, the 
defendants orchestrated sham acquisit ions by Company A of MDRX, Phoenix, 
and Northstar to inflate Company A 's revenues, E B I D T A , and overall value. 
E a c h of the three transact ions followed a s imi lar pattern: Company A ra ised 
money for the purported acquisit ion through a secondary stock offering on the 
AIM; the target or acquired company was formed only shortly before the 
announced acquisit ion; and the funds ra ised for the acquisit ion appear to have 
been used for other purposes. The defendants nevertheless falsified the books 
and records of Company A to cause i ts general ledger to appear as though the 
funds ra ised during the secondary offerings had been used for the acquisit ion. 
Two of the three acquired companies, M D R X and Phoenix, were fictitious 
entities that the defendants created i n connection wi th the scheme. The other 
company, Northstar, had at least one rea l asset, but the defendants grossly 
inflated the value of the company in furtherance of the scheme. 

1. The MDRX Fraud 

The Theft of a Corporate Identity 

15. One of the defendants' f raudulent acquisit ions involved the 
purported purchase of MDRX. The F B I h a s reviewed a regulatory release 
Company A issued and filed wi th the L S E on or about December 1 1 , 2015, 
concerning the secondary offering of shares by Company A and the purported 
use of a substant ia l portion of the proceeds to acquire MDRX. I n part icular , i n 
a Regulatory News Service ("RNS") 2 announcement issued on December 1 1 , 
2015 , entitled "Proposed Placing & Condit ional Acquisit ion," Company A 
announced its intention to raise approximately £30 mil l ion (approximately 
$45.5 million) (before expenses) through a secondary offering on the AIM. The 
December 1 1 , 2015 RNS also announced that Company A "had entered into a 
conditional share purchase agreement to acquire M D R X for up to $30.0 
mil l ion." PARMAR is quoted in the December 1 1 , 2015 RNS as stating that 
"[t]he acquisit ion of M D R X wi l l be our fourth acquisit ion since IPO last year 
and we are very excited about i ts prospects i n the context of the Group." 

16. As noted i n greater detail below, the investigation has revealed 
that, i n reality, M D R X did not exist. Not only did the defendants fabricate th is 
company, but documents and witness statements reflect that they also stole 
the description of M D R X that they used in the December 1 1 , 2015 RNS from 
pitch mater ia ls PARMAR and ZAHARIS had previously received relating to the 

2 The Regulatory News Service ("RNS") is a service that the L S E provides for issuing 
detailed market information for publicly traded companies listed on the L S E . 
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possible recapitalization of a real company operating i n the R C M space. Th i s 
rea l company wi l l be referred to herein as Company M. 

17. I n or about October 2015 , f inancial advisors for Company M, who 
were seeking to recapitalize it, sent a confidential information memorandum 
("CIM") to Company A for review by PARMAR and ZAHARIS . The C IM shows 
that it was furnished to potential investors on the understanding that it would 
be used only to evaluate whether to invest i n Company M. 

18. Documents nevertheless show that the co-conspirators used the 
description of Company M i n the C IM to generate the phony description of 
M D R X they used in the December 1 1 , 2015 RNS, in many cases lifting the 
description word for word from the C IM . The remarkable similarit ies included 
the following: 

a . The CIM listed Company M as being based in Akron, Ohio, and 
contained references to Chicago, C inc innat i , Cleveland, Columbus 
and Wheeling. The co-conspirators wrote in the RNS that M D R X 
was "based in Akron , Ohio and has offices i n Chicago, C inc innat i , 
Cleveland, Co lumbus and Wheeling." 

b. The CIM described Company M as " a leading nat ional provider of 
outsourced healthcare practice management a n d consult ing 
services, inc luding outsourced billing, collections operations and 
f inancial management pr imari ly to both independent and health 
system-based phys ic ian groups." The defendants largely copied 
this description when writ ing about M D R X in the RNS: " M D R X i s 
a national provider of outsourced hospital practice management, 
private practice management and consult ing services ( including 
outsourced bill ing, collections, operations and f inancial 
management) to both independent and heal th system-based 
physic ian groups in the U S . " 

c. The C IM also contained a "Practice Overview" section wh ich had as 
a subheading the following description: " [Company M] offers a 
uniquely comprehensive set of turnkey healthcare management 
services, wh ich allow medical practices to improve their 
profitability, c a sh cycle management and operations workflow." 
The co-conspirators lifted this description almost verbatim and 
included it i n the December 1 1 , 2015 RNS, noting, "MDRX offers a 
comprehensive set of turnkey healthcare management services 
which allow medical practices to improve their profitability, cash 
cycle management and operations workflow." 

19. The same day that Company A issued the December 11 , 2015 RNS 
announc ing the secondary offering and the agreement to acquire MDRX, 
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ZAHARIS received an email from one of the indiv iduals who had served as a 
f inancia l advisor for Company M in connection wi th i ts efforts to recapitalize. . 
The f inancial advisor wrote: " S a m , I j u s t left you a voicemail on a n important 
matter concerning [Company A's] announcement of the M D R X acquisit ion. I n 
reading the press release we noticed that the company description appears 
nearly identical to the [Company M] description i n our Confidential Information 
Memorandum (e.g., based in Akron , the las t sentence is verbatim from our 
subheader on page 7). As we are not famil iar w i th MDRX, we wanted to 
confirm wi th you wh ich of these facts are i n fact correct and which may have 
been cler ical errors. Please advise." ZAHARIS promptly forwarded th is emai l to 
others, inc luding PARMAR. I n one s u c h email to a n indiv idual not charged 
here in, who w i l l be referred to a s Co-conspirator 1, ZAHARIS wrote, "Not 
good " Co-conspirator 1 replied simply, "Oh fuck." When 
ZAHARIS replied that he would cal l Co-conspirator 1, the latter responded, 
"P is . We need to be ready for th is . " 

20. Several days later, ZAHARIS and PARMAR had scheduled a ca l l 
w i th the f inancial advisor, and, on December 14, 2015 , ZAHARIS sent PARMAR 
a n email entitled "Speech for the Broker of [Company M]." PARMAR replied by 
ask ing ZAHARIS to have the document printed so PARMAR would have it in 
front of h im when he spoke w i th Company M's f inancial advisor. 

2 1 . The F B I has interviewed the f inancial advisor who represented 
Company M i n its efforts to recapitalize about h i s interactions with ZAHARIS 
a n d PARMAR. The f inancial advisor stated that he had several ca l ls w i th 
ZAHARIS a n d a cal l wi th PARMAR about the possibility of Company A buying 
Company M. The f inancial advisor said that ZAHARIS had submitted an 
indication of interest on behalf of Company A, but that Company M had 
decided not to proceed wi th a sale from any of i ts potential buyers. The 
f inancia l advisor added that sometime later, he saw a press release from 
Company A describing the purchase of a company that did the same thing as 
Company M. The f inancial advisor noted that the press release used either the 
exact language or language that was very s imi lar to that used by Company M 
in i ts C IM. The f inancial advisor said he contacted ZAHARIS about the 
similar i t ies, and ZAHARIS said he would look into it. ZAHARIS then called 
back several days later and told the f inancial advisor that h is public relations 
f i rm had two books and had mistakenly taken language from the wrong book. 

22 . The explanation given by ZAHARIS to the f inancial advisor that 
there was a mix-up by Company A's public relations f irm is belied by other 
documents showing that ZAHARIS , PARMAR, and C H I V U K U L A knowingly stole 
the description of M D R X directly from Company M's C IM. I n a series of emails 
C H I V U K U L A sent to PARMAR and ZAHARIS on October 22, 2015, C H I V U K U L A 
made clear that he was creating, among other documents, a document called 
M D R X Medical Bi l l ing L L C Due Diligence Findings. The F B I has reviewed the 
document wi th this label and it contains nearly identical sections to the 
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Company M C IM. C H IVUKULA ' s emails make clear that he was us ing the 
Company M C IM to create the purported M D R X Due Diligence Findings. For 
instance, when he circulated the draft to PARMAR and ZAHARIS , C H I V U K U L A 
noted that he was "not able to edit the name of [Company M] i n the header." 
He also noted that he was "not able to remove the background image of 
[Company M] i n the presentation." 

False Representations Concerning MDRX's Revenue 

23 . Having stolen the corporate identity of Company M and fabricated 
a company they called "MDRX Medical B i l l ing L L C , " the defendants proceeded 
to falsely represent that M D R X was a real, viable company wi th a substant ia l 
customer base and significant revenues. 

24 . On or about February 10, 2016, Company A i ssued a press release 
announcing i ts acquisit ion of M D R X for $28 mill ion, stating that M D R X had " a 
nationwide presence and brings approximately 3,500 more phys ic ians on the 
[Company A] platform." In the announcement, PARMAR made the following 
statement: 

The closing of the M D R X transact ion wi l l further increase 
[Company A's] revenue and significant cost savings wi l l be borne 
out by M D R X being part of the [Company A] platform. MDRX wi l l 
be our fourth acquisit ion since our IPO. We continue to evaluate a 
pipeline of acquisit ion opportunities wh ich meet our str ict cr i ter ia 
of being able to generate recurr ing revenue while generating 
significant profitability. M D R X augments the exist ing Phys ic ians 
on the [Company A] platform i n States s u c h as Cali fornia, F lor ida 
and New York and adds new geographies such as A labama, 
Louis iana , New Mexico and Utah . With th is transact ion completed 
[Company A] wi l l collect approximately $2 billion annual ly for 
physic ians across the U S and wi l l increase our footprint i n new 
territories. 

25. Numerous documents obtained during the investigation 
demonstrate that M D R X did not exist prior to this transact ion. According to 
the Certificate of Formation for MDRX, the company was formed on December 
7, 2015 , right before the December 1 1 , 2015 RNS announcing the secondary 
offering and the purported M D R X transact ion, and approximately two months 
before the acquisit ion purported to close. Moreover, the stock purchase 
agreement between M D R X and Company A is a 58-page, detailed contract, the 
l ikes of wh i ch typically would be heavily negotiated over the course of time 
between the parties to the contract. Here, however, the stock purchase 
agreement is dated December 7, 2015 - the very day on wh i ch M D R X 
purportedly was formed. The signature block corresponding to M D R X on page 
58 of the stock purchase agreement reflects that it was signed by " J a c k White," 
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purportedly the C E O of MDRX. I n addition, the stock purchase agreement 
reflects that MDRX 's address was "166 High Street" i n Akron, Ohio. The F B I 
has confirmed through var ious investigative steps that there is no "166 High 
Street" i n Akron, Ohio. Although there is a 166 " S . High Street," that address 
is occupied by the City of Akron's government offices. No entity wi th MDRX 's 
name h a s operated there. 

26 . E m a i l communicat ions reviewed in the investigation further 
demonstrate the fraudulent nature of Company A 's purported acquisition of 
MDRX. For instance, on or about September 23 , 2016, ZAHARIS sent 
C H I V U K U L A an email w i th the subject l ine "who did we say we acquired M D R X 
from." ZAHARIS went on to write the following i n the body of the email: "My 
hard drive w i th the info i s upsta i rs in the bed room [sic] and they are a l l 
sleeping." C H I V U K U L A responded by wri t ing simply, " A P E X healthcare 
sy stems [.]" 

27. I n an earlier email dated March 1 1 , 2016, ZAHARIS sent 
C H I V U K U L A a copy of a notice to M D R X from the I R S advising MDRX that the 
I R S had assigned it an employer identification number ("EIN"). The date of the 
notice i s March 1 1 , 2016. Th i s document reflects that M D R X did not have an 
E I N , a basic identifier used by companies doing bus iness i n the United States, 
unt i l over a month after the announcement of Company A's acquisition of it. 

28. The defendants not only fabricated MDRX, but they 
misrepresented to the Private Investment F i r m dur ing the due diligence phase 
of the Go-Private transact ion that it had substant ia l earnings prior to its 
purported acquisit ion by Company A. For instance, on or about October 14, 
2016, PARMAR sent an email to a representative of the Private Investment F i r m 
who was responsible for m u c h of the f inancial due diligence and to ZAHARIS . 
The subject of the emai l was "Updated f inancials . " PARMAR attached to the 
emai l a spreadsheet purporting to be Company A's "Consolidated F inanc ia l 
Model." The model contained a tab that purported to show MDRX's 
consolidated statements of operations. Despite the fact that MDRX was not 
even formed as a corporate entity unt i l December 7, 2015 , th is consolidated 
statement of operations falsely showed positive earnings information dating as 
far back as J a n u a r y 2015 . 

29 . B a n k records and other documents also show that, in connection 
with the secondary offering announced on December 11 , 2015 that supposedly 
was going towards funding the (bogus) acquisit ion of MDRX , the defendants 
diverted those funds to other uses , and falsified the books and records of 
Company A. A comparison of Company A's general ledger and its associated 
bank accounts reflects efforts by the defendants to conceal the fraud. 
Specifically, Company A's general ledger shows that Company A received 
approximately $36.8 mil l ion on or about J a n u a r y 8, 2016 from the capital raise 
in the secondary stock offering on the AIM. The general ledger further shows 
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disbursements of approximately $35 mill ion on or about February 9, 2016, 
wh ich were described as payment for the acquisit ion of MDRX. 

30. While the bank records confirm Company A's receipt of the 
approximately $36 mil l ion in J a n u a r y 2016, the transact ions i n the account in 
or around February 2016 and over the next several months establ ish that the 
funds were not used for an acquisit ion. Rather, the bank records show 
numerous transfers to other accounts affiliated w i th Company A and/or other 
entities, inc luding the Operating Company, PARMAR, a law firm, and others. 
Approximately $7 mil l ion of the funds was transferred to the Operating 
Company i n a series of smaller transfers and recorded in the Operating 
Company's general ledger as " A R payments" from specific customers, many of 
which appear to be fake. I n reality, the defendants s imply funneled some of 
the proceeds from the stock offering to the Operating Company to create 
fictitious customer income and to fraudulently inflate the company's revenue 
streams. 

3 1 . For instance, on J a n u a r y 27, 2016, approximately $102,753 was 
sent from Company A's bank account to the Operating Company's bank 
account i n four separate transfers. E a c h incoming bank transfer supported a 
phony entry i n the Operating Company's general ledger purporting to show 
that the money was a receivable from a medical practice customer of the 
Operating Company. Law enforcement's investigation shows that, i n reality, 
these transfers were simply inter-company transfers and that the medical 
practices that were supposedly paying the money to the Operating Company 
either did not exist or did not have a relationship w i th the Operating Company. 
Th i s i s demonstrated by the defendants' efforts to lease temporary office space 
in the names of these and other purported customers of the Operating 
Company, a s explained further below. 

32 . T h i s pattern of transfers designed to support false general ledger 
entries continued on numerous dates between J a n u a r y and J u l y 2016 and 
resulted i n mil l ions of dollars i n manufactured revenue to the Operating 
Company. A detailed example of one of these related-company transfers is 
described below in paragraph 47 . 

2. Other Sham Acquisitions 

33 . Prior to the purported acquisit ion of MDRX, on or about September 
16, 2015 , Company A announced its acquisit ion of Northstar for approximately 
$18 mil l ion. Company A's b a n k account statements reflect that, i n May 2015, 
Company A had raised approximately $15.8 mil l ion through a secondary stock 
offering on the AIM. Company A's press release announcing the acquisit ion 
described Northstar as having a "stable client base of healthcare providers 
under recurr ing revenue contracts[, ]" part icular ly 77 retained clients, as well as 
233 employees (125 of wh i ch the release c la ims are i n the United States, wi th 
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the remaining employees in India) . The release also stated that Northstar had 
year-end revenue i n 2014 of approximately $7.9 mil l ion and E B I T D A of $1.9 
mil l ion. 

34. According to Northstar's Certificate of Format ion, it was formed on 
or about J u n e 12, 2015 , j u s t a few months before Company A's claimed 
acquisit ion of it. Moreover, according to a copy of a purchase agreement, on or 
about September 2, 2015 , Northstar purchased a bus iness (the "Bus ine s s 
Asset") for approximately $2,785,000. Fur ther , based on a review of Company 
A's bank records, it does not appear that the approximately $15 mill ion that it 
received from the secondary offering was used for a n acquisit ion, other than 
the B u s i n e s s Asset. Rather, the bank records show numerous transfers to 
other individuals and entities over the course of several months following the 
deposit of the offering proceeds. 

35 Last , on or about September 18, 2015 , two days after Company A 
announced the Northstar transact ion, Company A announced its acquisit ion of 
Phoenix, wh i ch it described as a company employing 138 people w i th revenue 
of $9 8 mil l ion as of the end of 2014. According to the press release 
announcing the acquisit ion, Company A acquired Phoenix for approximately 
$14 mill ion. 

36 Notably, according to a Certificate of Format ion obtained i n the 
investigation, Phoenix was formed on September 1 1 , 2015 , j u s t one week prior 
to the announcement of the acquisit ion. Fur ther , emai l communicat ions 
between C H I V U K U L A , ZAHARIS and others, from October 2015 indicate that 
Phoenix did not have an E I N as of that time (over one month after the 
acquisit ion announcement) . Specifically, on or about October 28, 2015 , 
C H I V U K U L A emailed one of Company A's outside attorneys (copying ZAHARIS) 
and asked, " C a n you please send the incorporation documents for Phoenix. We 
need to open a bank account and need these documents to get it going." The 
attorney replied and attached certain documents and, in response, 
C H I V U K U L A stated, "Do you also have the E I N letter for Phoenix?" The 
attorney responded, "No," and then C H I V U K U L A forwarded the attorney's 
response to ZAHARIS and stated, " Sam, we cannot open a bank account 
without a n E I N number. Normally, [the attorney's] office applies for these. I 
c a n do this online too, but I need [PARMAR's] SSN number. " After a few 
additional emails back and forth regarding the information needed to apply for 
a n E I N , C H I V U K U L A emailed ZAHARIS and stated, " I a m mentioning the 
location of the bus iness as Houston, Texas . Let me know if you th ink 
otherwise." ZAHARIS responded, "Ok. You can see from the rns where we say 
they are located." C H I V U K U L A replied, " I need a phys ica l address, and I am 
u s i n g the Houston office address." 

37. The Government has obtained a copy of a notice from the I R S to 
Phoenix dated November 27 , 2015 advising it of i ts E I N . The notice was issued 
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to Phoenix at the address of Company A 's pr incipal place of bus iness i n 
Houston, Texas , as reflected i n Company A's consolidated f inancial statements 
for 2014 a n d 2015 . 

38 . Several weeks after the above-referenced October 2015 emails, and 
approximately two months after the announcement of the purported 
acquisi t ion of Phoenix, ZAHARIS emailed PARMAR about creating a "sale 
agreement" for Phoenix and modeling it on a Northstar sale agreement that was 
purportedly signed on behalf of Northstar by "Bobby Kumar . " Specifically, on 
or about November 18, 2015 , ZAHARIS emailed PARMAR and stated, "PP, [w]e 
have to create a Phoenix sale agreement m u c h like the Northstar one that we 
had RAI ' s lawyer approve. The ac tua l Northstar contract shared w i th RA I is 
attached. I need your help to fill out the following for Phoenix ... For Northstar, 
we had 'Bobby Kumar 5 who will we have for Phoenix?* (emphasis in 
original). It is worth noting that a contract the defendants ended up drafting to 
document the purported Phoenix transact ion used the name "Vijay Kumar , " 
and the signature block at the end of the document l isted Northstar i n place of 
Phoenix. 

C. Bogus Customers and C u s t o m e r Contracts 

3 9 . I n addition to evidence of the fraudulent acquisit ions described 
above, the investigation has revealed that numerous of the purported 
customers and associated revenue of certa in of Company A's subsidiar ies , 
including the Operating Company, are fictitious. 

40 . Dur ing the due diligence phase of the Go-Private Transact ion , the 
Private Investment F i r m was interested i n seeing revenue and earnings data 
support ing Company A's organic growth rate. I n this regard, dur ing the due 
diligence, the defendants sent the Private Investment F i r m information 
concerning customer revenue for the Operating Company, among other 
entities. For instance, on J u l y 22 , 2016 , C H I V U K U L A sent a n email to 
representatives of the Private Investment F i r m copying PARMAR a n d ZAHARIS . 
The emai l attached a n Exce l spreadsheet entitled " [Company A] Cl ient - State -
Fee - Tenure - Speciality collections and transact ions.x lsx . " The body of the 
email stated: Attached is the collections and # of t ransact ions data from 2013 
to 2016 . " The spreadsheet included revenue figures for 2015 for approximately 
33 purported customers of the Operating Company. The investigation h a s 
revealed that these customers either did not exist or had no relationship wi th 
the Operating Company. Indeed, the F B I has obtained records from a company 
that provides temporary office space in the United States and elsewhere, and 
v i r tua l office space, indicating that, in or around late J a n u a r y 2016, ZAHARIS 
leased temporary office space at var ious locations throughout the country for 
these same 33 companies. Th i s evidence suggests that the defendants simply 
made up these customers (and the associated revenue) and then attempted to 
create r ea l addresses for them by leasing office space in their names. 
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4 1 . The defendants employed s imi lar tactics to fabricate customers of 
MDRX. Specifically, there were approximately 44 customers associated wi th 
M D R X in Company A 's accounting records and in some of the f inancial records 
that the defendants provided the Private Investment F i r m during i ts due 
diligence. Law enforcement has reviewed nine customer contracts between a 
medical bi l l ing entity that M D R X claimed to have acquired and purported 
medical providers. These medical providers are listed i n certain of MDRX 's 
f inancial records as customers of MDRX. Open source searches revealed that 
the addresses for the medical providers as set forth i n the contracts are 
temporary office addresses. Representatives of these office locations have 
confirmed w i th law enforcement that they have no record of the purported 
M D R X customers doing bus iness or occupying space there. Additional open 
source searches regarding the names of the indiv iduals who purportedly signed 
these contracts on behalf of the medical providers revealed no affiliations 
between the names in the contract and the entity for wh ich that person signed. 
Th i s further demonstrates the fraudulent nature of these contracts, and M D R X 
more generally. Further , law enforcement h a s been unable to confirm through 
open source searches the existence of the remaining 35 M D R X customers at 
the addresses listed for the customers i n Company A 's records. 

42. These findings are corroborated by emai l communicat ions between 
the defendants. For example, on J u l y 22 , 2016 (more than five months after 
Company A announced its acquisit ion of MDRX) , and the same day the 
defendants sent the Private Investment F i r m the spreadsheet of customer 
revenue figures discussed above, ZAHARIS sent PARMAR an emai l that stated: 

Pau l , 

For the audit we wi l l need to prepare client contracts for M D R X 
phys ic ians that we now have on our books. We have to create 60+ 
agreements that we inherited as part of the acquisit ion. We need 
these for [the Accounting F irm] p lus maybe also for the legal due 
diligence schedule for [the Private Investment F i rm] . 

I need your help on the following: 

• I need to know the name of the entity we should say is 
signing the agreements. I don't th ink we should use 
M D R X as per the Asset Sale Agreement but another 
name can you suggest one to use? It wi l l be the 
same name that we wi l l use for the company wide 
expenses we are going to create for their P&L. 
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43 . On or about November 16, 2016, ZAHARIS sent an emai l to 
Company A's outside counsel requesting that counsel create several "Delaware 
L L C ' s , " inc luding "Apex Healthcare LLC [ . ] " As noted above i n paragraph 26, on 
or about September 23 , 2016 , ZAHARIS told C H I V U K U L A that they had 
previously said they had acquired M D R X from " A P E X healthcare systems." 

44 . The defendants' creation of false records to conceal their scheme 
cont inued even after the Go-Private transact ion closed. For instance, on or 
about February 22, 2017, ZAHARIS emailed PARMAR seeking a telephone 
number to use on certain purported customer invoices. The emai l stated, " I f 
y ou have [a] spare parked T-Mobile number . . . .can we change it to Ohio centric 
so we c a n use it on the invoices we send from Apex Healthcare Systems[?] 
Then we put it in a phone and record a suitable message a s well[.] We say 
Apex was i n Dayton so it should be a Dayton area code wh i ch is 937[ . ] " Th i s 
emai l , a n d others collected i n the investigation, suggests that the defendants 
s imply fabricated customer invoices to create the appearance of rea l customers 
that generated revenue to Company A. 

D. Fabricated and Altered B a n k Statements 

4 5 . I n addition to the above, the defendants also altered records 
relat ing to the Operating Company's bank accounts to create fictitious revenue 
to the Operating Company. The Operating Company's revenue, as Company 
A's pr imary subsidiary, had a significant impact on Company A's overall 
f inancia l performance. 

46 . E m a i l correspondence among the defendants demonstrates their 
efforts to alter bank records and, i n some instances, to create them from 
scra tch . Wi th some of the emails, the defendants attached the phony bank 
statements i n Microsoft Word or Exce l form. For example, on or about 
February 20 , 2016, C H I V U K U L A emailed PARMAR and ZAHARIS and attached 
numerous documents. The body of the emai l stated, "Paul[,] attached are the 
bank statements i n excel and pdf. I a m not able to get the bar code for Nov 
a n d December in the right format in word. T h a n k s , Rav i " . S imi lar ly , on or 
about J a n u a r y 25 , 2017, ZAHARIS emailed PARMAR and discussed the 
placement of a wire transfer into a bank statement. The emai l stated, " I don't 
th ink we make it on page 1 ... I th ink we have it as the 1 s t one on page 2[.] We 
w i l l need to change the complete description ... we can cut and paste the one 
from page 97 that you did ... where you made it $ 1 . lm[. j We wi l l need to tweak 
[a] few things from the one wire to the new one ..the T F N and the month/date." 

47 . Additionally, a comparison of some of the bank account statements 
that the defendants created i n Exce l form and the real bank records from the 
bank reveal substant ia l discrepancies. As j u s t one example, the Operating 
Company 's J a n u a r y 2016 account statement that the Government obtained 
directly from the bank reflects an incoming wire transfer on J a n u a r y 29, 2016 
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i n the amount of $43,673. The source of the wire transfer is Company A. 
Company A's bank records also show the corresponding outbound wire to the 
Operating Company. However, a fabricated bank statement that the 
defendants created for the same account dur ing the same time period 
attributes th is incoming wire transfer to an account belonging to "Chiropract ic 
Care, " a purported customer entity that law enforcement has confirmed to be 
fictitious. The Operating Company's general ledger also c la ims that this 
transfer was for a receivable from "Chiropract ic Care. " The phony entries i n 
the fake bank statement and the general ledger made a simple transfer of 
funds from Company A to the Operating Company appear to be revenue from a 
legitimate, third-party source. 

48. The defendants also generated fake bank account statements for 
M D R X wh ich , a s explained above, is a bogus entity that the defendants created 
in furtherance of the scheme. I n or around March 2017, ZAHARIS and 
C H I V U K U L A discussed the details of various debits and credits i n the 
purported b a n k account of MDRX. I n the email, ZAHARIS wrote, "Need to 
clean th is up and to also include amount less bank charges transferred to 
ma in account [of the Operating Company] wh ich wi l l then mean a deposit entry 
in the ma in chase account on the same day." The emai l attached a purported 
M D R X bank statement constructed i n Microsoft Exce l . Law enforcement h a s 
confirmed w i th the bank reflected on these statements that it has no record of 
any accounts associated wi th MDRX. 

E . I m p a c t of the F r a u d on Company A's F i n a n c i a l Statements 

49. The scheme had a substant ia l impact on Company A's f inancial 
statements a n d resulted in grossly inflated revenue, income, and E B I D T A 
figures for the time period that the Private Investment F i r m evaluated in 
determining to pursue to the Go-Private Transact ion. 

50. The defendants' scheme to defraud was uncovered in or around 
September 2017, at or around the time the defendants resigned from their 
positions w i th Company A or were terminated. On or about March 16, 2018, 
Company A and numerous of its affiliated entities filed a petition for Chapter 
11 relief in the United States Bankrup t cy Court, Eas t e rn Distr ict of New York. 
The petition attributes Company A's f inancial demise, i n large part, to the 
scheme described above. 
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